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1. Name

historic First National Bank of Adams

and/or common Adams Municipal Liquor Store

2. Location

street & number 322 Main Street N/A__ not for publication
city, town Adams MAvicinity of
state Minnesota, .o 22 county Mower code 099
‘3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
—__ district _x public —x_ occupied —__agriculture — __ museum
_% building(s) ___ private ___ unoccupied __x_commercial ____park
__ structure —_both — work in progress ___educational ____ private residence
—___site Public Acquisition Accessible —_entertainment —religious
____object NA- in process X yes: restricted —_government —_ scientific
_ being considered ___ yes: unrestricted — industrial —__ transportation
——hno — military — other:

4. Owner of Property

name City of Adams
street & number N/A
city, town Adams N/ Avicinity of state Minnesota 55909

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Mower County Court House, Register of Deeds

street & number N‘/ A

city, town Austin state Minnesota

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

Statewide Survey of
titte Historic Resources has this property been determined eligible? ____yes _X no

date 1984 ___federal _X_ state ___county ___local

depository for survey records Minnesota Historical Society-Ft. Snelling History Center

city, town St. Paul state Minnesota




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

—excellent ____deteriorated ____ unaltered _X original site N/A
_x good: ——ruins _x_altered — moved date

— fair ——_ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The First National Bank of Adams is a rectangular masonry building (60' x 30')
facing south on Main Street (Highway #56) on the northeast cormer of Fourth
Street and Main at the principle intersection in downtown Adams. The bank has
two stories, a full basement, and is faced in a rough-textured Oriental red
Roman brick (supplied by the Belt Line Brick Co. of Minneapolis) accented with
brick soldier courses and ornamental multi-colored glazed terra cotta. The
brick walls are laid "with horizontal joints raked out and vertical joints
brought up as close as the mortar permits,” in the words of the architects.
The front facade of the bank is set back from the sidewalk about 15 feet on a
raised par-terre composed of a small lawn, which greatly adds to the bank's
character. The surrounding buildings are flush to the sidewalk.

The exterior of the building is strong, but simple in design. The front
facade is symmetrical and is composed of a central entry with projecting
stoops with wrought-iron lamp standards. The fromt door is flanked by
projecting brick piers forming a portico with terra-cotta "capitals”,
terminating in a flat roof. Terra cotta was supplied by the American Terra
Cotta and Ceramic Tile Company in Minneapolis. The horizontal terra cotta
header above the portico was removed and replaced with metal flashing in

1947. Above the central door at the second floor is a large rectangular
window centered vertically over the entrance. It originally had stained glass
with a "V"-shaped chevron design, typical of Purcell and Elmslie motifs, but
is now infilled with glass block. The original stained glass central window
was sold by the city in 1953 to Dr. Paul Schneider for his new clinic west of
the bank on Main Street. It remains there today. On either side of the front
entry are three casement windows with small panes set in steel muntins.
Soldier courses with multi-colored terra cotta insets at the corners
(reminiscent of Louis Sullivan vegetative designs) frame the windows on the
front facade and tie together the flanking casement windows and the large
central second story window.

This general motif with projecting brick piers flanked by casement windows is
repeated on the west side, the other principal facade, of the building.
Fortunately, the large stained glass window is intact and is mounted above
plain glass which helped to light the work area on the west side of the
interior. Today this stained glass window is in poor condition. It is
buckled, heaving, and needs immediate attention.

The building originally terminated in three courses of brick chamfering at the
cornice, surmounted by a decorative terra cotta parapet on the south and west
principal facades. A central cartouche of terra cotta measuring over 4' x 5'
was mounted above the front entry on the south facade. According to the
Purcell and Elmslie Papers (Job #399) in the Northwest Architectural Archives
(University of Minnesota), the ornamental terra cotta was hollow and porous.
It became filled with moisture which was carried down from the terra cotta
into the brick work. Freezing and thawing broke the brick chamfering. The
cornice and parapet deteriorated and necessitated replacing. The replacement
was plain brick. No attempt was made to duplicate the original, unworkable,
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design. A wrought iron lamp standard is missing from the front stoop and the
original brick stairways have been rebuilt in a slightly different
configuration.

The interior of the building is in remarkably original condition, considering
that the city of Adams has used the structure for a municipal liquor store
since 1938 when the bank went into receivership. Inside the front doors is a
small hallway with an oak coffered ceiling. To the right is a stairway
leading down to a community room, designed as such, in the basement. To the
left is the President's office, now rented out to an insurance agent. Double
interior doors are oak inset with leaded glass. All the hardware in the
building, inlcuding door hinges, is solid brass.

The major portion of the interior is devoted to the lobby and work room with a
plastered gabled ceiling and custom designed chandeliers in brass with
transluscent globes. The customer lobby is fitted up with an oak settee and a
fireplace inset with an oil painting. The corners of the fireplace are
trimmed in Kasota stone. The floor is a dark reddish-brown quarry tile with
marble mop boards. The work room is separated from the customer area by a
Roman brick and fumed oak double-angled counter on the west side of the room.
The tellers cages were fitted with leaded plate glass tellers' windows in oak
frames with brass grill work. The tellers' windows and part of the oak
countertop has been removed to accommodate a freezer. The countertops are oak
with marble deal plates. The teller's drawers were fitted into compartments
for bank business and are still intact. At the rear of the large room is the
original 11,000 pound vault, doors leading to the rear exit, and a stairway up
to the mezzanine overlooking the first floor and the vaulted ceiling. The
mezzanine floor is oak and oak is used for the stairway access and trim.

In addition to the removal of the tellers' windows and part of the original
oak counter, a false ceiling was installed in 1964 to conserve heat. The
false ceiling cut from view the fireplace painting in half. The rest of the
painting can be seen from the mezzanine intact above the 2 x 4s supporting the
lowered ceiling. The original vaulted ceiling and chandeliers are intact
above. In 1964, the north wall of the president's office was removed,
doubling the size of that room so that it could be used for city council
meetings. A wall on the west side behind the tellers cages was removed. It
originally created a small storage room on the west side of the bank. A new
back door ws also punched through the rear of the building by adapting a
window in the meeting room below. Other than these alterations, the building
is intact, although filled with liquor and beer (even the vault is used as
liquor storage). The original stained glass window on the west side of the
work room is done in blue, teal, purple, and light violet stained glass.
Parts of this window are buckled and it needs immediate repair. Below the
stained glass window is a band of clear glass which lights the work area.
This glass was once shaded by a canvas awning which has since rotted away.




NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
©-62) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

First National Bank of Adams
Continuation sheet Resource Count Item number 7 Page 2

The First National Bank of Adams nomination contains

1 contributing building.




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

— prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric __ community planning ____ landscape architecture ___ religion

—1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic ____conservation — law . science

—1500-1599 ___ agriculture —___economics —literature —— sculpture

—1600-1699 __X architecture __ education — military — social/

__1700-1799 _ Xan —__ engineering —____music humanitarian

—___1800-1899 ____ commerce — exploration/settlement ___ philosophy — theater

— 1900~ ____ communications _ industry ——_ politics/government ___ transportation
___ invention —_ other (specify)

Specific dates 1924 Builder/Architect  Purcell and Elmslie, Minneapolis

Statement of Sighiiicance:iin one para'graph)

The First National Bank of Adams, 1917-24, was the last of four small banks
designed by Purcell and Elmslie (students of Louis Sullivan), shortly before
George Grant Elmslie left the firm in 1921. William Gray Purcell (1880-1965)
worked for Sullivan for a short period in Chicago and establihed his own firm
in Minneapolis and Chicago in 1906. George Grant Elmslie (1871-1952) joined
the firm in 1909 after leaving Adler and Sullivan in Chicago. Elmslie left
Purcell in 1921 to start his own.firm and the successful collaboration of the
two partners ceased. The Adams Bank was designed as a quality building with
first-rate materials, which included a fireplace in the customer area and a
painting by noted Chicago artist, John Warner Norton. The bank has also
doubled as the village council chambers and was designed with a basement
community room which is still used by civic groups to this day. The structure
is also associated with William W. Dean and wife Sophrona Dean, and J. D.
Schmidt, the first bankers in Adams, and the Krebsbach family of leading
merchants in Adams.

William Dean, Sophrona Dean, and J.D. Schmidt were bankers. in Northfield,
Minnesota before they moved to Adams and established the first private bank in
the village in 1898. For some 30 years before, Adams was -without a banking
facility. In 1906, the Deans and Schmidt dissolved the private bank and
established the First National Bank of Adams, with Schmidt as president and
William Dean as cashier. Meanwhile, the Deans had established the First
National Bank in Rose Creek, with Sophrona as president and their son, Warren,
as cashier. Warren had learned the banking business in Adams from his
parents. By the 'teens, Schmidt had sold out to the Deans to become the
president of the National Bank of Northfield. Sophrona Dean then became the
president of the Adams bank, a position she held until her death.

The Krebsbach family was also involved in the bank at Adams: Michael was
vice-president, Arthur J. was-’assistant cashier, and John H. was-on the

board. The two Krebsbach brothers, Michael and John, were sons of Mathias and
Susan Krebsback, pioneer settlers to Mower county in 1857. Arthur J. was a
son of John. Mathias and his wife settled in Adams and became pioneer
merchants opening-a general store. Mathias was the first president of the -
village of Adams, first postmaster of the area, and served on the village
council. Both John and Michael were involved in their father's general store,
held officer positions in the First National Bank of Adams, and ran a dry
goods business in Adams. Michael was also a manager in a cooperative creamery
which his brother John started in 1885. John later established a grainm
elevator in Adams which he ran for many years.

Aside from housing the municipal liquor store since 1938, the Adams bank was
used for the village council meetings. In 1964, the north wall of the




9. Major Bibliographical References

See continuation sheet #3.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property _1less than 1 acre

Quadrangle name __Adams, Minn-Towa 1965 Quadrangle scale 7.5'Series
UTM References
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Verbal boundary description and justification

South 120' of Lot 7 and North 20' of South 120' of Lot 8 and West 19.5' of Lot 9
in the Village of Adams ' Block 8

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N/A code N/A county N/A code N/A

state N/A code N/A  county N/A code N/A

11. Form Prepared By

name/titte Dy, Norene A. Roberts

organization Historical Research, Inc. date June 21, 1985
street & number 5535 Richmond Curve . telephone (612) 929-2921
city or town Minneapolis . state Minnesota 55410

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

___ national —_ state X iocal
As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the Nationai Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Pubiic Law 89~
665), i hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the Nat Reglster and certify t has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the I Park Service
State Historic Presesvation Officer signature s M / P /
Russell W. Fridley [
title State Historic Preservation Officer date - /” 76
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president's office on the first floor was removed, more than doubling the
space, so it could be used more effectively as a council meeting room. The
bank was also designed with a community room in the basement which is used to
this day. Over the years it has housed the American Legion and other groups.

The architectural details of the Adams bank, such as the fireplace and
painting, and the addition of the basement community room could well have been
the result of Purcell and Elmslie's work for a woman client, Mrs. Sophrona
Dean, president of the bank. Writing in his "parabiography” on the job in
1959, Purcell commented on the fireplace: "The fireplace was just an old 1880
front hall irrelevancy--should never have gonme in.” Nontheless, the bank
design was received well by the architecture world. It was featured in the
Western Architect (Nov., 1927) and The Diebold News (1925). The painting over
the fireplace is an o0il on canvas, depicting a lake scene with two canoeists.
The water reflects distant mountains and the deep colors of the pine and
hardwood forests. The upper half of painting is obscured, but undamaged, by
the suspended ceiling installed in 1964. After the building was opened, the
owners intended to have the artist return to paint a frieze across the front
of the mazzanine wall, but the plan never bore fruit.

The painting was the work of John Warner Norton (1876-1934), noted Chicago
artist, who was trained largely at the Art Institute of Chicago. Norton is
noted for his murals, and left over 60 major works of importance. He received
many awards, among which were the Harris bronze medal of the Art Institute of
Chicago in 1926 and a gold medal for his murals from the Architectural League
of New York in 1931. Two paintings, "Barbados™ and "Light and Shadow,” were
placed in the permanent collection at the Art Institute of Chicago. He
frequently collaborated with the architectural firms of Purcell and Elmslie
and Holabird and Roche, creating works in harmony with the mood and
architecture of the buildings they were to be displayed in. Among his major
works are murals for the LaSalle Hotel in Chicago; the Ramsey County Court
House in St. Paul; the Chicago Board of Trade; Notre Dame University in South
Bend, Indiana; the Logan Museum in Beloit, Wisconsin; and the Jefferson County

Courthouse in Birmingham, Alabama.

The building has attracted the attention of the Southland Area Arts
Association. This group has published their research on the building and has
plans to reinstall the missing front stained glass window. Nomination to the
National Register is the first step in their restoration planms.,
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